

Patented Medicine Prices Review Board Conseil d'examen du prix des médicaments brevetés

# MEDS PIPELINE MODITION Automatical structure Automatical structure

# National Prescription Drug Utilization Information System NPDDUS



Published by the Patented Medicine Prices Review Board April 2020

*Meds Pipeline Monitor, 2019* is available in electronic format on the PMPRB website. Une traduction de ce document est également disponible en français sous le titre : L'Observateur des médicaments émergents, 2019.

Patented Medicine Prices Review Board Standard Life Centre Box L40 333 Laurier Avenue West Suite 1400 Ottawa, ON K1P 1C1

Tel.: 1-877-861-2350 TTY 613-288-9654

Email: PMPRB.Information-Renseignements.CEPMB@pmprb-cepmb.gc.ca Web: www.pmprb-cepmb.gc.ca

ISSN 2562-3834 Cat. No.: H79-5E-PDF

© Her Majesty the Queen in Right of Canada, as represented by the NPDUIS initiative of the Patented Medicine Prices Review Board, 2020

## About the PMPRB

The Patented Medicine Prices Review Board (PMPRB) is an independent quasi-judicial body established by Parliament in 1987. The PMPRB has a dual regulatory and reporting mandate: to ensure that prices at which patentees sell their patented medicines in Canada are not excessive; and to report on pharmaceutical trends of all medicines and on research and development spending by patentees.

#### **The NPDUIS Initiative**

The National Prescription Drug Utilization Information System (NPDUIS) is a research initiative established by federal, provincial, and territorial Ministers of Health in September 2001. It is a partnership between the PMPRB and the Canadian Institute for Health Information (CIHI).

Pursuant to section 90 of the *Patent Act*, the PMPRB has the mandate to conduct analysis that provides decision makers with critical information and intelligence on price, utilization, and cost trends so that Canada's healthcare system has more comprehensive and accurate information on how medicines are being used and on sources of cost pressures.

The specific research priorities and methodologies for NPDUIS are established with the guidance of the NPDUIS Advisory Committee and reflect the priorities of the participating jurisdictions, as identified in the NPDUIS <u>Research Agenda</u>. The Advisory Committee is composed of representatives from public drug plans in British Columbia, Alberta, Saskatchewan, Manitoba, Ontario, New Brunswick, Nova Scotia, Prince Edward Island, Newfoundland and Labrador, Yukon, the Non-Insured Health Benefits Program (NIHB), and Health Canada. It also includes observers from CIHI, the Canadian Agency for Drugs and Technologies in Health (CADTH), the Ministère de la Santé et des Services sociaux du Québec (MSSS), and the pan-Canadian Pharmaceutical Alliance (pCPA) Office.

#### Acknowledgements

This report was prepared by the Patented Medicine Prices Review Board (PMPRB) as part of the National Prescription Drug Utilization Information System (NPDUIS) initiative.

The PMPRB wishes to acknowledge the members of the NPDUIS Advisory Committee for their expert oversight and guidance in the preparation of this report. Please note that the statements and findings for this report do not necessarily reflect those of the members or their organizations.

We gratefully acknowledge Patricia Carruthers-Czyzewski, BScPhm, MSc, Sintera Inc. for providing pharmaceutical expertise and for her contribution to the scientific analysis.

Appreciation goes to Allison Carey for leading this project; and Tanya Potashnik and Jeffrey Menzies for their oversight in the development of the report. The PMPRB also wishes to acknowledge the contribution of the editorial staff Carol McKinley, Sarah Parker, and Shirin Paynter.

#### Disclaimer

NPDUIS operates independently of the regulatory activities of the Board of the PMPRB. The research priorities, data, statements, and opinions expressed or reflected in NPDUIS reports do not represent the position of the PMPRB with respect to any regulatory matter. NPDUIS reports do not contain information that is confidential or privileged under sections 87 and 88 of the *Patent Act*, and the mention of a medicine in a NPDUIS report is not and should not be understood as an admission or denial that the medicine is subject to filings under sections 80, 81, or 82 of the *Patent Act* or that its price is or is not excessive under section 85 of the *Patent Act*.

Although based in part on data obtained under license from GlobalData and the IQVIA MIDAS® Database, the statements, findings, conclusions, views, and opinions expressed in this report are exclusively those of the PMPRB and are not attributable to either GlobalData or IQVIA.

# > EXECUTIVE SUMMARY

*Meds Pipeline Monitor* (MPM) is a horizon scanning report that features a selection of new medicines in the late stages of clinical evaluation that may have a significant impact on future clinical practice and drug spending in Canada.

Medicines in Phase III clinical trials or in pre-registration with the US Food and Drug Administration (FDA) are considered as candidates if they have the potential to address an unmet therapeutic need, offer a novel mechanism or therapeutic benefit over existing therapies, or treat a serious condition. The final selection features medicines that treat a broad range of therapeutic areas. In addition to identifying new medicines for inclusion in the list, this edition monitors the medicines featured in the 2018 *Meds Pipeline Monitor* to report on changes to their status in the pipeline. A new section focused on Canada highlights potentially significant medicines currently under review by Health Canada.

The report collects data from two main sources: GlobalData's Healthcare database is used to identify medicines currently undergoing clinical evaluation, while Health Canada's Drug and Health Product Submissions Under Review list provides information on new medicines under assessment in Canada.

Together with its companion publication *Meds Entry Watch*, this report series monitors the continuum of new and emerging medicines in Canada and internationally, providing key information to decision makers, researchers, patients, and clinicians, among other stakeholders.

# **Highlights of the Meds Pipeline 2019**

- In 2019, the pipeline contained 5,584 new medicines in various stages of evaluation.
- Oncology dominated the therapeutic mix, with cancer treatments representing over one third (35%) of medicines in all phases of clinical trials. Therapies for central nervous system diseases such as Alzheimer's disease and depression accounted for 14% of medicines in clinical trials.
- Nervous system treatments represented the greatest share (19%) of medicines in pre-registration with the FDA in 2019, exceeding the 15% share held by oncology.
- Of the 5,584 new medicines in the pipeline, 697 (12%) were in Phase III clinical trials and FDA pre-registration, representing a wide range of therapeutic areas. One third of these late-stage medicines had an early orphan designation approved through the FDA or EMA, which is consistent with the increasing trend in the prevalence of orphan-designated medicines entering the pharmaceutical market.
- Eight late-stage new medicines, including two gene therapies, were selected for addition to the 2019 MPM list based on their potential impact on the Canadian healthcare system. Some of these medicines may offer breakthroughs in treating previously unmet needs or may have the potential to treat large patient populations.
- Of the 30 new medicines featured in the 2018 edition of the MPM, 16 were retained on the list as they continue to satisfy the selection criteria. Five medicines, including the FDA Breakthrough-designated treatment for spinal muscular atrophy Zolgensma, had been granted market authorization by the US FDA, the EMA, and/or Health Canada as of January 2020.
- The report also highlights nine new medicines currently under review by Health Canada. Of these, more than half had forecasted global revenues nearing or exceeding \$1 billion by 2025.

# > TABLE OF CONTENTS

Executive Summary	4
List of Terms	6
Introduction	7
Methodology	8
Limitations	.13
Snapshot of the 2019 Pipeline	. 14
2019 Meds Pipeline Monitor	. 16
Table 4. Selected new medicines for 2019	16
Table 5. Pipeline medicines retained from the 2018 Meds Pipeline Monitor	. 19
Table 6. Pipeline medicines from the 2018 Meds Pipeline Monitor that have gained market	
authorization	. 24
Spotlight on Canada	. 26
Table 7. Selected new medicines currently under review by Health Canada	. 26
References	. 30

# LIST OF TERMS

For the purpose of this report, the following terms and associated definitions apply.

**CLINICAL EFFICACY:** The maximum response achievable from a medicine in research settings and the capacity for sufficient therapeutic effect in clinical settings.<sup>i</sup>

**GENE THERAPY:** A technique for the treatment of genetic disease in which a gene that is absent or defective is replaced by a healthy gene, as defined by Health Canada.<sup>ii</sup>

**MARKET AUTHORIZATION:** The process of approval for a medicine to be marketed in a given country. In Canada, market approval is granted following a substantive scientific evaluation of a product's safety, efficacy, and quality, as required by the *Food and Drugs Act* and *Regulations*.<sup>III</sup>

**MEDICINAL INGREDIENT:** A chemical or biological substance responsible for the claimed pharmacologic effect of a drug product. Sometimes referred to as a molecule, active substance, or active ingredient.<sup>iv</sup>

**MEDICINE:** A broad term encompassing both the final drug product and medicinal ingredient(s); this encompasses chemically manufactured active substances and biologics, including gene therapies. Medicines are reported at the medicinal ingredient level and can refer to a single ingredient or a unique combination of ingredients.

**MEDICINE PIPELINE:** A set of new medicine candidates under active research and development by biotechnology and pharmaceutical companies.

NEW MEDICINE: A medicinal ingredient that has not previously received market authorization by a regulator.<sup>iv</sup>

**PHASE III CLINICAL TRIALS:** Controlled or uncontrolled trials conducted after preliminary evidence suggesting efficacy of the drug has been demonstrated. These are intended to gather the additional and confirmatory information about the clinical efficacy and safety under the proposed conditions of use for the drug.<sup>ii</sup> Phase III trials are usually randomized with double-blind testing in several hundred to several thousand patients.

**PRE-REGISTRATION:** A medicine is in the pre-registration phase once all the necessary clinical trials have been completed and it is waiting for registration or approval for use by a governing body.<sup>v</sup>

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>i</sup> Holford NHG, Sheiner LB. 1981. Understanding the dose-effect relationship: Clinical application of pharmacokineticpharmacodynamic models. Clin. Pharmacokinet. 6 (6): 429–453. doi:<u>10.2165/00003088-198106060-00002</u>.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>ii</sup> <u>https://www.canada.ca/en/health-canada/services/drugs-health-products/drug-products/health-canada-clinical-trials-</u> <u>database/glossary.html</u>

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>iii</sup> https://www.canada.ca/en/health-canada/services/drugs-health-products/drug-products.html

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>iv</sup> <u>http://www.pmprb-cepmb.gc.ca/en/npduis/view.asp?ccid=1310&lang=en</u>

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>v</sup> <u>http://www.appliedclinicaltrialsonline.com/are-phase-labels-still-relevant</u>

# 

This ninth edition of the *Meds Pipeline Monitor* (MPM) is a continuation of the horizon scanning research formerly published under the title *New Drug Pipeline Monitor*. It features a selection of medicines in Phase III clinical trials or in pre-registration with the US Food and Drug Administration (FDA) that have the potential to significantly impact clinical practice and drug spending in Canada. This edition also includes a new Spotlight on Canada section that highlights potentially significant new drug submissions currently under review by Health Canada.

The methodology, which is detailed in the next section, uses a specific set of criteria to identify a list of pipeline candidates from the GlobalData Healthcare database, as well as a list of candidates currently under review in Canada from Health Canada's Drug and Health Product Submissions Under Review (SUR) lists. Medicines reported in the previous edition are also reviewed for this edition, including those that continue to qualify for the list of candidates as well as those that have since received market authorization. Likewise, the new medicines featured in this report will be monitored in future editions of the MPM to identify candidates that successfully enter the market.

To provide context for the selection of medicines, the MPM includes a snapshot of the entire pipeline, with an emphasis on the therapeutic breakdown of each phase of clinical evaluation. It also identifies trends observed across the pipeline in 2019.

*Meds Pipeline Monitor* is a companion publication to *Meds Entry Watch*, which analyzes the market dynamics of newly approved medicines in Canada and internationally. Together, these two PMPRB reports monitor the market continuum of late-stage pipeline medicines and new approvals, providing decision makers, researchers, patients, clinicians, and other stakeholders with information on the emerging medicines and evolving cost pressures.



## **Snapshot of the Pipeline**

The snapshot of the pipeline captures the composition of medicines in various phases of clinical evaluation at a single point in time. For the purpose of this analysis, a full list of pipeline medicines was retrieved from GlobalData's Healthcare database in September 2019.

New medicinal ingredients are identified as those with no prior approvals through the US Food and Administration (FDA), the European Medicines Agency (EMA), or Health Canada, while existing medicinal ingredients include previously approved medicines that are undergoing assessment for additional indications.

The distribution of new medicines by therapeutic area corresponds to the indication under evaluation, as reported by GlobalData. Note that a single new medicine may be undergoing multiple clinical studies for separate indications.

## **Meds Pipeline Monitor**

The MPM focuses on new medicines in Phase III clinical trials in Canada, the United States, and Europe, or in preregistration with the FDA. Pipeline medicines are selected for inclusion using a two-stage process (Figure 1). The initial screening stage selects medicines in the late phases of clinical evaluation, while the analytic review stage involves a more rigorous appraisal of each potential candidate to identify medicines that may have a significant clinical and budgetary impact. The second stage considers a specific set of criteria, in addition to the results of a thorough review of clinical evidence and scientific literature.

This methodology is reviewed annually and refined as required.



#### FIGURE 1. Selection process for medicines featured in the Meds Pipeline Monitor

\* In pre-registration with the US Food and Drug Administration (FDA).

+ Has Phase III clinical trials in Canada, United States, or geographic Europe (excluding Russia and Turkey).

## Stage 1. Initial screening

GlobalData's Healthcare database is used to identify a list of medicines undergoing Phase III clinical trials or in preregistration with the FDA. These medicines serve as the basis for the initial screening stage.

The drug geography, defined as the geographical region or country in which the medicine is either marketed or in pipeline development, is restricted to Canada and other countries with similar regulatory and approval processes: the US and geographic Europe (excluding Russia and Turkey). Only new medicinal ingredients that have adequate data that supports increased efficacy and safety from clinical trials are considered as candidates for inclusion.

Medicines approved or sold in Canada, the US, or Europe for any other indication or in any other strength or formulation are excluded during the selection process, as are medicines whose clinical trials are inactive, suspended, withdrawn, or terminated.

The selection process groups pipeline candidates into two categories: (a) new medicines and (b) new gene therapies. As illustrated in Figure 1, the initial screening process for both groups is the same, but the analytic review stage is slightly different, as the available data for gene therapies is limited.

## **Stage 2: Analytic screening**

#### **Selection criteria**

Following the initial screening, the second stage of the process considers a number of selection criteria to determine the final list of pipeline candidates. These criteria are detailed in Table 1.

Gene therapies are selected using a broader approach, as the clinical evidence available for this group is relatively limited. A gene therapy is retained on the list if the preliminary (or completed) results from Phase III trials suggest that there is evidence of clinical effectiveness with an acceptable safety profile.

#### **TABLE 1. Selection criteria for the Meds Pipeline Monitor**



**MEDS PIPELINE MONITOR 2019** 

#### SELECTION CRITERIA



**Priority Review** – medicines that would provide significant improvements in the safety or effectiveness of the treatment, diagnosis, or prevention of serious conditions when compared to standard applications

**Gene therapy:** a technique for the treatment of genetic disease in which a gene that is absent or defective is replaced by a healthy gene, as defined by Health Canada

#### **Additional descriptive information**

A profile of each successful pipeline candidate is provided, including a brief outline of the indication and mechanism of action, as well as a summary of the applicable published outcomes from clinical trials. Specific attributes that may influence the potential uptake or cost of each medicine are also identified. Table 2 provides a detailed description of the key attributes.

#### TABLE 2. Key attributes of new medicines selected for the Meds Pipeline Monitor

ATTRIBUTE		RELEVANCE	DATA SOURCES
	Phase III clinical trials in Canada	Medicines tested in Canada are likely to be of interest to Canadians	GlobalData Healthcare; Health Canada Clinical Trials Database; Health Canada Drug and Health Product Submissions Under Review; National Institute of Health (NIH) Clinical Trial Registry
	Rare or orphan designation	Medicines used to treat rare diseases or conditions that generally have high treatment costs and may result in substantial spending	
	Biologic medicine	These complex molecules produced by living organisms are expected to have high costs, resulting in substantial spending	GlobalData Healthcare
•	Add-on therapy	Medicines designed to be used in conjunction with existing medicines may increase the treatment cost and contribute to higher spending	

The profile also provides details of potential cost implications, if available, which includes the forecasted global revenues reported by GlobalData.

The indications and therapeutic areas of the featured medicines correspond to their Phase III clinical trial or preregistration stage. A single clinical trial may assess multiple indications within the same therapeutic area. These medicines may have additional indications at various phases of clinical evaluation that are not mentioned in this report. The scientific description provided applies directly to the specified indication(s) for the selected medicines.

## **Spotlight on Canada**

Health Canada's Drug and Health Product Submissions Under Review (SUR) are assessed using a modified approach to the selection criteria to establish a list of medicines that may have the potential to significantly affect Canadian drug spending.

Medicines listed in the SUR include new drug submissions containing medicinal ingredients that have not been approved in Canada for any indication, in any strength or form. Unlike the selection of medicines identified in the pipeline lists, these medicines may have previously received market authorization through the US FDA or the EMA.

## **Selection Criteria**

Following this initial screening, the medicine must demonstrate at least one of two selection criteria to qualify for inclusion in the report. These criteria are listed in Table 3.

Gene therapies are selected using a broader approach, based on the available clinical evidence for this group. A gene therapy is retained on the list if the preliminary (or completed) results from Phase III trials suggest that there is evidence of clinical effectiveness with an acceptable safety profile.

#### TABLE 3. Selection criteria for the list of medicines currently under review by Health Canada

	SELECTION CRITERIA
	<b>Improved safety and efficacy shown in clinical trials:</b> a medicine that demonstrates increased safety, new outcome measures, or increased life expectancy or quality of life
00	<b>Novel mechanism / First-in-class:</b> a medicine that uses a new mechanism of biochemical interaction to produce a medical effect, or a medicine that is the first in its therapeutic class
Z	Gene therapy: a technique for the treatment of genetic disease in which a gene that is absent or defective is replaced by a healthy gene, as defined by Health Canada

## **Additional descriptive information**

As in the pipeline lists, the profile of each medicine under review includes the key attributes listed in Table 2, as well as a brief outline of the indication and mechanism of action, and a summary of the applicable published outcomes from clinical trials. Specific attributes that may influence the potential uptake or cost of each medicine are also identified, as well as potential cost implications, if available, which includes the forecasted global revenues reported by GlobalData.

Although FDA designations for expedited development or review are not a selection criteria for this list, relevant Breakthrough, Fast Track, and Priority Review designations are indicated where available. For a description of these designations, see Table 1.

Indications and therapeutic areas correspond to the information provided by GlobalData. The scientific description provided applies directly to the specified indication(s) for the selected medicine. For medicines under review for multiple indications, the primary indication is used.

## Data sources

The GlobalData Healthcare database is the primary data source for the identification of pipeline medicines and their corresponding clinical information, including the clinical trial end date. GlobalData Healthcare tracks medicines from pre-clinical discovery, through clinical trials, to market launch and subsequent sales. The database is a comprehensive resource of medicines under various stages of clinical development. Search capabilities allow for controlled selection of specific attributes, including but not limited to: phase of clinical development, therapeutic area, molecule type, indication, drug geography, mechanism of action, and FDA designations.

The Health Canada Drug and Health Product Submissions Under Review (SUR) lists are used to determine the featured selection of new medicines currently undergoing review by Health Canada. The SUR is a publicly available set of lists that identify pharmaceutical and biologic drug submissions containing new medicinal ingredients not previously approved in Canada that have been accepted for review. This applies to submissions accepted on or after April 1, 2015.

As this selection is restricted to new medicines, additional sources of information are cross-referenced to confirm that the candidates have not previously been approved or sold. These include recorded sales data from the IQVIA MIDAS® Database (all rights reserved); regulatory approval records from the National Institutes of Health (NIH), US FDA, the EMA, and Health Canada; and information in Health Canada's ClinicalTrials database and ClinicalTrials.org.

# LIMITATIONS

This analysis captures a snapshot of the pipeline over a specific time period. Although it is assumed to be representative of the composition of medicines over the entire year, the pipeline is fairly dynamic, and the share of medicines in any particular therapeutic area will vary.

This assessment is restricted to medicines under development for market in Canada and other countries with similar regulatory and approval processes: the US and Europe (excluding Russia and Turkey). Medicines that have not yet received market authorization in these countries were considered as potential pipeline candidates, even if they have been approved elsewhere in the world.

Some of the selected medicines may be undergoing clinical trials for additional indications; this analysis only reports on indications in the late stages of development, that is, in Phase III clinical trials or pre-registration with the US FDA, that satisfy the selection criteria set out in the methodology.

For each selected pipeline medicine, the primary manufacturer(s) and trade name, if available, are given along with the indication. In some cases, additional manufacturers, including subsidiaries, may also be involved in the development of the medicine with the primary companies, or other manufacturers may be developing the same medicine for other indications.

Although this report attempts to identify the most important pipeline medicines, the selection is not exhaustive and some medicines that are not included in this selection may have a significant impact on future clinical practice and drug spending in Canada.

The featured lists capture the composition of the pipeline as of September 2019 and are validated as of the end of January 2020. Due to the unpredictability and fast-moving nature of pipeline medicines entering the market, some of the medicines listed in this edition may have been approved or marketed in Canada, United States, or Europe following this date. Pipeline medicines that have not been included in this report due to the timing of the selection may presently meet the selection criteria and these, along with the rest of the drug pipeline will be considered for the next edition of the report.

# SNAPSHOT OF THE 2019 PIPELINE

Pharmaceutical innovation is transforming the development and application of medical treatments worldwide. Over 5,500 new medicines were in clinical evaluation or in pre-registration with the FDA in 2019, representing 88% of the total pipeline.

Figure 2 provides a snapshot of the pipeline in 2019, including the number of new medicinal ingredients in each phase of clinical evaluation. Of the 5,584 new medicines, 697 (12%) were in Phase III clinical trials or in pre-registration with the FDA.



#### FIGURE 2. Number of pipeline medicines in each stage of clinical evaluation

Data source: GlobalData Healthcare database (accessed September 2019).

Figure 3 illustrates the distribution of new medicines by therapeutic area from Phase I through pre-registration. Although the findings show that pipeline medicines represented a wide range of therapeutic areas in 2019, cancer treatments dominated the therapeutic mix across the pipeline, accounting for over one third (35%) of medicines in all phases of clinical evaluation. Other important pipeline therapies include those for central nervous system (CNS) diseases such as Alzheimer's disease and depression.

As a share of the medicines in pre-registration, central nervous system treatments increased to 19% in 2019, exceeding the 15% share held by oncology. This increase primarily reflects recent innovative developments in medicines for Alzheimer's disease. Novel treatments for Alzheimer's that target either amyloid protein buildup in the brain or neurotransmitter activity have an increased presence in all phases of the pipeline, in response to growing unmet needs and despite setbacks from previously unsuccessful clinical trials. There were 128 medicines for the treatment of Alzheimer's disease in the pipeline in 2019, 16% of which were in Phase III and pre-registration.





Data source: GlobalData Healthcare database (accessed September 2019).

# MEDS PIPELINE MONITOR 2019

The following tables list the selection of new pipeline medicines in 2019 and those retained from the 2018 edition of the *Meds Pipeline Monitor*, as well as medicines featured in the previous edition of the report that have since gained market authorization. These medicines will be monitored in future editions of this report.

Applying the screening criteria described in the Methodology section, 8 of the 697 pipeline medicines in late stages of clinical evaluation, including 2 gene therapies, were selected for inclusion in the 2019 new medicines list (Table 4). Likewise, 16 late-stage medicines were retained from the 2018 list as they continued to satisfy the same criteria (Table 5).

Five medicines that were featured in the 2018 edition of the MPM, including two from the list of gene therapies, had gained market authorization in the US, Europe, or Canada as of January 2020. These medicines are listed in Table 6.

		SELECTION (	CRITERIA			KEY ATTRIBUTES			
	00				Ó			8	•
Increased safety and efficacy	Novel mechanism	Gene therapy	Breakthrough	Fast Track	Priority Review	Clinical trials in Canada	Rare or orphan designation	Biologic medicine	Add-on therapy
MEDICINE (T COMPANY	RADE NAME)	INDICATI	ON(S)* D	ESCRIPTION A	AND KEY ATT	RIBUTES			
CARDIOVASC	ULAR								
CARDIOVASCULAR         Bempedoic acid         Esperion Therapeutics Inc.         Image: Comparison of the system of t				Oral, first-in-o Unique mech inhibition (AC synthesis. <sup>1</sup> Reduced low- combined wit lowering mos patients who Has been sho ezetimibe, ap reduce the ris utilization and Total global r	class, lipid-low anism of actic L), an enzyme density lipop th ezetimibe, a tr pronounced cannot tolera wan to be safe pears to effect sk of muscle-r d effectivenes revenue foreca	vering therapy on: adenosine involved in rotein choles and added to l when it was te statins. <sup>1,2,3</sup> in combinati tively lower L elated advers s of statin the asted to be \$!	y. e triphosphat fatty acid an terol (LDL-C, statin thera combined w ion with stat .DL-C, and h se events, wh erapy. <sup>4,5</sup> 521 million b	te-citrate lyas d cholesterol ) as monothe py, with LDL- ith ezetimibe ins as well as as the poten sich can limit by 2025.*	e rapy, .C tial to the
CENTRAL NE	RVOUS SYSTI	EM							

#### **TABLE 4. Selected new medicines for 2019**

Gantenerumab Hoffmann-La Roche Ltd	Alzheimer's disease Major depressive disorder (MDD)	<ul> <li>A fully human monoclonal antibody that binds aggregated amyloid-β (Aβ) and removes Aβ plaques by Fc receptor-mediated phagocytosis.</li> <li>Several Phase III studies of its effect on cognition and functioning in participants with prodromal Alzheimer's disease are ongoing. <sup>6,7,8,9</sup></li> <li>Being tested in the dominantly inherited Alzheimer's network trials unit (DIAN-TU).<sup>10</sup></li> <li>There are several ongoing Phase III trials in Canada.<sup>11,12,13</sup></li> <li>Total global revenue forecasted to be \$55 million by 2025.*</li> <li>A 5-HT1A receptor agonist belonging to the buspirone family.</li> <li>Differs from the SSRIs in only affecting the 5-HT (1A) receptor.<sup>14</sup></li> </ul>
Fabre-Kramer Pharmaceuticals, Inc.		<ul> <li>Has been shown to be more effective than selective serotonin reuptake inhibitors (SSRIs), as it treats the psychiatric disorders without causing sexual dysfunction.<sup>15</sup></li> <li>Possesses greater selectivity for the 5-HT1A receptor than SSRIs.<sup>15</sup></li> <li>"Could be a breakthrough therapeutic agent in the treatment of anxiety and MDD."<sup>15</sup></li> </ul>
ENDOCRINOLOGY		
Donaperminogene seltoplasmid (VM202) Helixmith Co., Ltd	Diabetic neuropathic pain	<ul> <li>First-in-class non-viral plasmid DNA gene therapy that contains the instructions to produce more of a protein called hepatocyte growth factor (HGF). HGF has multiple roles in the body: it is involved in angiogenesis (the formation of new blood vessels) and is a neurotrophic factor or a chemical that improves the survival and growth of neurons (nerve cells).<sup>16</sup></li> <li>The results from previous studies suggest that it provides the same magnitude of pain relief as reported with pregabalin or gabapentin.<sup>17</sup></li> <li>In study NCT02427464, intramuscular injections were administered.<sup>18</sup> In a double-blind, placebo-controlled study, it was shown to have no significant adverse events and demonstrate a significant reduction at 3 months in the mean pain score and continued reductions in pain at 6 and 9 months: 48.4% of placebo patients.<sup>19</sup></li> <li>A Phase III trial in the treatment of diabetic foot ulcers is ongoing.<sup>20</sup></li> <li>Total global revenue forecasted to be \$783 million by 2025.*</li> </ul>
IMMUNOLOGY		
Imlifidase (Idefirix [EU]) Hansa Biopharma AB	Kidney transplant rejection	<ul> <li>An endopeptidase derived from Streptococcus pyogenes which has specificity for human IgG, and when infused intravenously results in rapid cleavage of IgG.<sup>21</sup></li> </ul>

		<ul> <li>May represent "a ground breaking new method of desensitization for patients who otherwise might have no hope for receiving a lifesaving transplant."<sup>21</sup></li> </ul>
ONCOLOGY		
Nadofaragene firadenovec (Instiladrin [US]) FKD Therapies Oy () () () () () () () () () () () () ()	Non-muscle- invasive bladder cancer (NMIBC)	<ul> <li>A gene therapy consisting of an adenovirus containing the gene interferon (IFN)-alpha2b.</li> <li>Administered by catheter directly into the bladder where the virus introduces the active gene into cells of the bladder lining to do its work.<sup>22</sup></li> <li>Being developed particularly for NMIBC that is not responsive to bacillus Calmette-Guérin (BCG) therapy, the current main treatment option for early bladder cancer.</li> <li>In Phase III trials.<sup>23</sup></li> </ul>
Plitidepsin (Aplidin) PharmaMar, S.A.	Relapsed or refractory multiple myeloma (MM)	<ul> <li>A cyclic depsipeptide that potently inhibits MM cell growth and induces apoptosis.<sup>24,25</sup></li> <li>Exerts pleiotropic effects on cancer cells, most likely by binding to the eukaryotic translation eEF1A2. This ultimately leads to cell-cycle arrest, growth inhibition and induction of apoptosis via multiple pathway alterations.<sup>26</sup></li> <li>In patients with relapsed or refractory MM, its activity seems to be enhanced after addition of dexamethasone while remaining well tolerated.<sup>24</sup></li> <li>In a Phase III trial, efficacy data, the reassuring safety profile, and its novel mechanism of action suggest that, in combination with dexamethasone, it can be an alternative option in patients with relapsed/refractory MM after at least three prior therapy lines.<sup>27</sup></li> </ul>
OPHTHALMOLOGY		
Abicipar pegol Allergan PLC	Wet (neovascular/ exudative) macular degeneration	<ul> <li>A long-acting anti-vascular endothelial growth factor (VEGF) administered by intravitreal injection given every 3 months (compared to monthly with existing agents); reduces treatment burden.<sup>28,29</sup></li> <li>A designed ankyrin repeat protein (DARPin)<sup>30</sup> targeting vascular endothelial growth factor-A (VEGF-A).<sup>31</sup></li> <li>Total global revenue forecasted to be \$456 million by 2025.*</li> </ul>

\* Consensus forecasts for global revenue data were collected from GlobalData, Q4-2019, and are given in US dollars.

Data source: GlobalData Healthcare database. The database search for new medicines added to the MPM was performed in September 2019.

		SELECTION	CRITERIA	KEY ATTRIBUTES			RIBUTES			
	Øø	Z			Ô				•	
Increased safety and efficacy	Novel mechanism	Gene therapy	Breakthroug	h Fast track designation	Priority Review	Clinical trials in Canada	Orphan designation	Biologic	Add-on therapy	
MEDICINE (TI COMPANY	RADE NAME)	INDICATI	ON(S)* C	DESCRIPTION	AND KEY AT	TRIBUTES				
GASTROINTE	GASTROINTESTINAL AND METABOLIC DISORDERS									
Cenicriviroc Allergan PLC	sis; nolic atitis	<ul> <li>A dual chemokine receptor type 2 (CCR2) and type 5 (CCR5) antagonist, in treatment-experienced, HIV-infected individuals.<sup>32</sup></li> <li>For oral treatment of non-alcoholic steatohepatitis (NASH) with liver fibrosis.<sup>33</sup> After one year of treatment, twice as many patients achieved improvement in fibrosis and no worsening of NASH compared with placebo.<sup>33</sup></li> <li>Non-alcoholic fatty liver disease (NAFLD) has an increasing prevalence worldwide. At present, no specific pharmacotherapy is approved for NAFLD.<sup>34</sup></li> <li>In studies to date, safety and tolerability were comparable to placebo.<sup>33</sup></li> <li>Phase III study is ongoing.<sup>35</sup></li> <li>Total global revenue forecasted to be \$27 million by 2025.*</li> </ul>								
Setmelanotide       Genetic disorders; Obesity         Rhythm Pharmaceuticals, Inc.       Image: Comparison of the set of t				<ul> <li>First-in-class melanocortin-4 receptor (MC4R) agonist to treat rare genetic disorders of obesity.</li> <li>Leads to weight loss in in obese individuals with complete pro-opiomelanocortin (POMC) deficiency. While POMC deficiency is very rare, 1%-5% of severely obese individuals harbour heterozygous mutations in MC4R.<sup>36</sup></li> <li>Phase III studies are ongoing.<sup>37,38</sup></li> <li>Total global revenue forecasted to be \$682 million by 2025.*</li> </ul>						
GENETIC DISC	ORDERS		· ·							
Elivaldogene tavalentivec (Lenti-D)       Adrenoleuko- dystrophy (ADL)         bluebird bio, Inc.       A Lenti-D gene therapy for X chromosome-linked ADL, a c neurologic disorder with an estimated birth incidence of 1 newborns. ADL is a metabolic disorder that impairs peroxi oxidation of very-long-chain fatty acids.         CD34+ cells are obtained from the patient by means of ap transduced with the Lenti-D lentiviral vector. The patient r						DL, a devast ce of 1 in 17, peroxisomal s of apheres tient receive	ating 000 beta- is and s			

## TABLE 5. Pipeline medicines retained from the 2018 Meds Pipeline Monitor

		conditioning with busulfan and cyclophosphamide, after which the Lenti-D gene product, which is made up of the transduced CD34+ cells, is infused.
		<ul> <li>Early results of the STARBEAM study (ALD-102; Phase II/III) suggest that Lenti-D gene therapy may be a safe and effective alternative to allogeneic stem-cell transplantation in boys with early-stage cerebral ADL.<sup>39</sup></li> </ul>
		<ul> <li>Total global revenue forecasted to be \$202 million by 2025.*</li> </ul>
HEMATOLOGICAL	<u> </u>	
Fitusiran	Hemophilia A; Hemophilia B	
Alnylam Pharmaceuticals Inc.; Genzyme, a Sanofi Co.		• A small interfering RNA (siRNA) developed to suppress the hepatic synthesis of antithrombin.
		<ul> <li>Current hemophilia treatment involves frequent intravenous infusions of clotting factors, which is associated with variable hemostatic protection, a high treatment burden, and a risk of the development of inhibitory alloantibodies.</li> </ul>
		<ul> <li>Once-monthly subcutaneous administration of fitusiran resulted in dose- dependent lowering of the antithrombin level and increased thrombin generation in participants with hemophilia A or B who did not have inhibitory alloantibodies.<sup>40</sup></li> </ul>
		• Phase III trials are ongoing. <sup>41,42,43,44</sup>
		• Total global revenue forecasted to be \$1.2 billion by 2025.*
<b>Vadadustat</b> Otsuka Holdings Co., Ltd; Akebia Therapeutics, Inc.	Anemia in chronic kidney disease (CKD; renal anemia)	<ul> <li>A titratable prolyl hydroxylase domain (PHD) enzyme inhibitor that</li> </ul>
		<ul> <li>Has been shown to increase hemoglobin (Hb) levels<sup>45</sup> and to maintain mean Hb concentrations in patients on hemodialysis previously receiving epoetin.<sup>46</sup></li> </ul>
		Phase III trials are ongoing. <sup>47</sup>
		• Total global revenue forecasted to be \$845 million by 2025.*
INFECTIOUS DISEASE	-	
Cabotegravir	HIV infections (AIDS)	
		<ul> <li>A potent integrase strand transfer inhibitor; formulated as an oral tablet for daily administration and as a long-acting injectable nanosuspension.</li> </ul>
		<ul> <li>Has a long half-life and can be formulated into a long-acting nanosuspension for parenteral administration (intramuscular at 4 weekly and 8 weekly intervals).<sup>48</sup></li> </ul>
		• Few interactions with commonly used concomitant medications. <sup>48</sup>
		<ul> <li>May provide an alternative therapeutic option for both the treatment and prevention of HIV-1 infection that does not necessitate adherence to a daily regimen.<sup>49</sup></li> </ul>

		<ul> <li>In combination with dual nucleoside reverse transcriptase inhibitor (NRTI) therapy had potent antiviral activity during the induction phase; as a two-drug maintenance therapy, cabotegravir plus rilpivirine provided antiviral activity similar to efavirenz plus dual NRTIs until the end of week 96.<sup>50</sup></li> <li>Offers an alternative to daily regimens and may improve preexposure prophylaxis (PrEP) adherence.<sup>51</sup></li> <li>Currently under review by Health Canada.</li> <li>Total global revenue forecasted to be \$876 million by 2025.*</li> </ul>
Fostemsavir tromethamine ViiV Healthcare UK Ltd; Bristol-Myers Squibb Co.; GlaxoSmithKline PLC	HIV infections (AIDS)	<ul> <li>A next generation CD4 attachment inhibitor that is active regardless of viral tropism, without cross-resistance to any of the existing antiretroviral compounds.<sup>52</sup></li> <li>In one study, 82% of patients treated with fostemsavir and an optimized background ARV regimen achieved virological suppression below 50 copies/mL in HIV-infected treatment-experienced individuals.<sup>52</sup></li> <li>Total global revenue forecasted to be \$329 million by 2025.*</li> </ul>
MUSCULOSKELETAL SYSTEM		
Palovarotene Ipsen S.A.	Myositis ossificans progressive; Fibrodysplasia ossificans progressiva (FOP)	<ul> <li>A novel highly selective retinoic acid receptor gamma agonist.</li> <li>Claimed to reverse the structural, functional, and inflammatory features of cigarette smoke-induced emphysema.<sup>53</sup></li> <li>Phase III trials for treatment of FOP are ongoing.<sup>54</sup></li> <li>Total global revenue forecasted to be \$1.2 billion by 2025.*</li> </ul>
ONCOLOGY		
Ipatasertib Genentech, Inc.	Metastatic hormone refractory (castration- resistant, androgen- independent) prostate cancer	<ul> <li>An oral, v-Akt murine thymoma viral oncogene homolog (Akt) inhibitor.</li> <li>In metastatic castration-resistant prostate cancer (mCRPC), combined blockade with abiraterone and ipatasertib showed superior antitumour activity to abiraterone alone, especially in patients with phosphatase and tensin homolog (PTEN)-loss tumours.<sup>55</sup></li> <li>Improved outcomes in a subset of patients with metastatic triple-negative breast cancer (TNBC) when combined with paclitaxel in the first-line setting.<sup>56,57</sup> Targeted therapies for TNBC—which accounts for around 20% of breast cancers—remain unavailable.</li> <li>Phase III trials in breast cancer<sup>58,59</sup> and prostate cancer<sup>60</sup> are ongoing.</li> <li>Total global revenue forecasted to be \$586 million by 2025.*</li> </ul>

Melphalan flufenamide hydrochloride (Melflufen, Ygalo) Oncopeptides AB	Refractory multiple myeloma; Relapsed multiple myeloma (MM)	<ul> <li>Peptide-based alkylating agent; a novel dipeptide prodrug of Melphalan.</li> <li>Overcomes drug-resistance and improves multiple myeloma patient outcomes.<sup>61</sup></li> <li>Phase III trials are ongoing.<sup>62</sup></li> <li>Total global revenue forecasted to be \$468 million by 2025.*</li> </ul>
Quizartinib dihydrochloride (Vanflyta) Daiichi Sankyo Co., Ltd	Refractory acute myeloid leukemia (AML); Relapsed acute myeloid leukemia (AML)	<ul> <li>A small molecule receptor tyrosine kinase inhibitor targeting FLT3 that is administered orally once daily. FLT3 is a receptor tyrosine kinase that is commonly expressed in AML and is mutated in approximately 25% of AML patients.</li> <li>Data from the QuANTUM-R study (NCT02039726) confirmed the efficacy and safety of quizartinib that was observed in previous trials and showed the value of therapy targeting FLT3-ITD. It is the first trial to demonstrate improved overall survival for FLT3-ITD-associated AML patients who are treatment resistant or who relapsed after prior therapy.</li> <li>Preliminary data from the QuANTUM-R study shows improved overall survival for FLT3-ITD-associated AML patients who are treatment resistant or who relapsed after prior therapy.</li> <li>Phase III trials are ongoing.<sup>63</sup></li> <li>Total global revenue forecasted to be \$162 million by 2025.*</li> </ul>
Tavokinogene telseplasmid (ImmunoPulse, Tavo) OncoSec Medical Inc.	Metastatic melanoma	<ul> <li>An immunomodulatory cytokine that delivers the immune-stimulating protein interleukin-12 (IL-12) into the tumour microenvironment.</li> <li>Administered using ImmunoPulse, a device that electroporates into the tumour.</li> <li>A combination of tavokinogene telseplasmid and pembrolizumab was effective at reducing tumours in advanced melanoma patients who had failed prior anti-programmed cell death protein (PD-1) therapies, according to early results of a Phase IIb trial (includes a Canadian site).<sup>64, 65</sup></li> </ul>
<b>Ublituximab</b> (Utuxin) TG Therapeutics, Inc.; LFB S.A.	Refractory chronic lymphocytic leukemia (CLL); Relapsed chronic lymphocytic leukemia (CLL); Relapsing multiple sclerosis (RMS)	<ul> <li>A next generation glycoengineered anti-CD20 monoclonal antibody.</li> <li>Next-generation with higher complement-dependent cytotoxicity and antibody-dependent cellular cytotoxicity against malignant B-cells.<sup>66</sup></li> <li>Demonstrated efficacy in patients with high-risk CLL and B-non-Hodgkin lymphoma in both first line, subsequent lines, and in rituximab refractory patients.<sup>66</sup></li> <li>In combination with ibrutinib, resulted in rapid and high response rates.<sup>67</sup></li> <li>Phase III in RMS are ongoing.<sup>68</sup></li> <li>Total global revenue forecasted to be \$619 million by 2025.*</li> </ul>

OPTHALMOLOGY		
Lenadogene nolparvovec (Lumevoq [EU]) GenSight Biologics S.A.	Leber's hereditary optic neuropathy (LHON)	<ul> <li>A recombinant adeno-associated viral vector serotype 2 (rAAV2/2) containing the wild-type ND4 gene (rAAV2/2-ND4).</li> <li>It is administered through intravitreal injection containing 9E10 viral genomes in 90uL balanced salt solution (BSS) plus 0.001% Pluronic F68<sup>®</sup>.</li> <li>In Phase III trials for the treatment of optic atrophy or hereditary Leber<sup>69,70</sup> due to the mutation of the G11778A ND4 gene.</li> </ul>
Timrepigene emparvovec [AAV2-REP1, NSR-REP-1] Biogen Inc.	Choroideremia	<ul> <li>An adeno-associated viral vector (AAV2) encoding rab escort protein 1.</li> <li>Administered as a sub-retinal injection after vitrectomy.</li> <li>Choroideremia is an X-linked inherited chorioretinal dystrophy leading to blindness by late adulthood. It is estimated that the prevalence of CHM is between 1 in 50,000–100,000 people. Currently there is no effective treatment.<sup>71</sup></li> <li>Phase I and II studies with NSR-REP1 in patients with choroideremia have produced encouraging results, suggesting that it is possible not only to slow or stop the decline in vision, but also to improve visual acuity in some patients.<sup>72</sup></li> <li>In a small number of patients, it was associated with maintenance or improvement of visual acuity, although no significant difference was found from control eyes. All safety issues were associated with the surgical procedure and none were judged severe.<sup>73</sup></li> <li>Phase III registrational trial (STAR) in patients with choroideremia has been initiated in many countries, including Canada.<sup>74,75</sup></li> <li>Total global revenue forecasted to be \$159 million by 2025.*</li> </ul>
Zuretinol acetate Retinagenix LLC	Leber congenital amaurosis (LCA); Retinitis	<ul> <li>Oral retinoid; it is a synthetic retinoid replacement for 11-cis-retinal.</li> <li>Could "achieve significant improvement in visual function and acuity as an alternative to gene therapy in inherited retinal diseases. Its oral dosing would, if approved, differentiate it as a potential therapy, particularly for patients who may not be amenable to more invasive options, such as younger children, due to intraocular surgical difficulties in underdeveloped eyes."<sup>76</sup></li> <li>Total global revenue forecasted to be \$105 million by 2025.*</li> </ul>

\* Consensus forecasts for global revenue data were collected from GlobalData, Q4-2019, and are given in US dollars. Data source: GlobalData Healthcare database.

## TABLE 6. Pipeline medicines from the 2018 Meds Pipeline Monitor that have gained market authorization

		SELECTION	CRITERIA	KEY ATTRIBUTES					
	00	X			Í			8	•
Increased safety and efficacy	Novel mechanism	Gene therapy	Breakthrough	Fast track designation	Priority Review	Clinical trials in Canada	Orphan designation	Biologic	Add-on therapy
MEDICINE (T COMPANY	RADE NAME)		DN(S)* D	ESCRIPTION /	AND KEY ATT	RIBUTES			
CENTRAL NERVOUS SYSTEM									
Onasemnogene abeparvovec (Zolgensma)       Spinal muscular atrophy (SMA)         AveXis, Inc.       Image: Colored			cular MA)	A non-replica containing th survival moto cytomegalovi Administered The START tri transformativ compared to diagnosed wi A long-term s up to 15 year Marketed in t aged less that	ting recombin e compliment r neuron (SM rus (CMV) enl as a one-time al (Phase I) de e improvemen the natural hi th SMA are on study has bee s (estimated c he US in May n 2 years with evenue foreca	hant AAV9 vin tary deoxyribo N) gene under hancer/chicker e infusion. emonstrated nt in achiever story of SMA ngoing. <sup>78, 79, 8</sup> n initiated fo completion de 2019 for the SMA and bi- asted to be \$2	rus vector-ba onucleic acid er the contro en-β-actin-h a dramatic in ment of deve Type $1.^{77}$ Pf o r continuous ate: 2033). <sup>81</sup> treatment o allelic mutat	ased gene the d (cDNA) of t ol of the ybrid promot ncrease in sur elopmental m hase III trials i s safety monit f pediatric pa tions in SMN by 2025.*	erapy he human ter (CB). rvival and nilestones in infants toring for atients 1.
Ubrogepant (Ubrelvy [US]) Migraine Allergan PLC			•	<ul> <li>A next generation oral calcitonin gene-related peptide receptor antagonist.</li> <li>Safe and effective in the acute treatment of migraine in a wide range of patients, including those who had an insufficient response to a triptan or those in whom triptans were contraindicated, as well as in patients who had moderate to severe cardiovascular risk.</li> <li>In Phase III trials (ACHIEVE II), in adults with migraine, acute treatment with ubrogepant compared with placebo led to significantly greater rates of pain freedom at 2 hours.<sup>82</sup></li> <li>Total global revenue forecasted to be \$486 million by 2025.*</li> </ul>					
INFECTIOUS	DISEASE	I							
Lefamulin (Xe Nabriva Thera	enleta) peutics PLC	Community acquired b pneumonia	y- acterial a (CABP)	Novel pleuron through inhib transferase ce binding of tra	nutilin antibio ition of prote enter of the 50 nsfer RNA for	otic; exhibits a in synthesis l OS bacterial ri r peptide trar	a unique me by binding to bosome, thu nsfer. <sup>83</sup>	chanism of a o the peptidy us preventing	ction 1 J the

		<ul> <li>Has demonstrated efficacy against the most common bacteria responsible for CABP, including strains exhibiting resistance to macrolides, fluoroquinolones, tetracyclines, vancomycin, and beta-lactams.<sup>84</sup></li> <li>In Phase III trials for community-acquired bacterial pneumonia.<sup>85</sup></li> <li>Approved by the FDA in August 2019.</li> <li>Total global revenue forecasted to be \$253 million by 2025.*</li> </ul>
ONCOLOGY		
Selinexor (Xpovio) Karyopharm Therapeutics Inc.	Relapsed or refractory multiple myeloma	<ul> <li>First-in-class, oral selective inhibitor of nuclear export (SINE). It links to and inhibits XPO1 (CRM1), a nuclear export protein.</li> <li>In a Phase II trial (STORM), it was given in combination with low-dose dexamethasone and shrank tumours in 25.4% of these patients, including two patients whose tumours were completely gone. Responses lasted a median of 4.4 months.</li> <li>In combination with dexamethasone, it resulted in objective treatment responses in patients with myeloma refractory to currently available therapies.<sup>86</sup></li> <li>Approved by FDA in July 2019.</li> <li>Total global revenue forecasted to be \$548 million by 2025.*</li> </ul>
HEMATOLOGICAL		
LentiGlobin BB305 (Zynteglo) bluebird bio, Inc.	Beta-thalassaemia major	<ul> <li>A gene therapy (autologous CD34+ cells encoding βA-T87Q-globin gene) for the treatment of beta-thalassemia major, a rare and potentially debilitating blood disorder.</li> <li>Administered as a single dose straight into the blood (intravenous infusion) following a course of busulfan chemotherapy.<sup>87</sup></li> <li>May improve survival and quality of life by reducing or eliminating the need for blood transfusions and iron-chelation therapy.</li> <li>In Phase III trials.<sup>88, 89</sup></li> <li>Approved in the EU in June 2019.</li> <li>Total global revenue forecasted to be \$1.08 billion by 2025.*</li> </ul>

\* Consensus forecasts for global revenue data were collected from GlobalData, Q4-2019, and are given in US dollars. Data source: GlobalData Healthcare database.

# SPOTLIGHT ON CANADA

This new section includes a list of select medicines currently under review by Health Canada that may have a significant impact on future clinical practice and drug spending. Medicines included on this list are new to Canada, but may have been approved in other jurisdictions.

Table 7 highlights nine new medicines currently on Health Canada's Drug and Health Product Submissions Under Review (SUR) list that have a novel mechanism of action or demonstrated improved safety and efficacy in clinical trials. The SUR is a publicly available source that identifies pharmaceutical and biologic drug submissions with new medicinal ingredients that have been accepted for review in Canada.

#### TABLE 7. Selected new medicines currently under review by Health Canada

SELECTION CRITERIA				KEY ATTRIBUTES						
	Øo	X			Ó			8	•	
Increased safety and efficacy	Novel mechanism	Gene therapy	Breakthrough	Fast Track	Priority Review	Clinical trials in Canada	Rare or orphan designation	Biologic	Add-on therapy	
MEDICINE (T COMPANY	RADE NAME)	INDICATI	ON(S)* DE	SCRIPTION A	ND KEY ATT	RIBUTES	·			
CENTRAL NERVOUS SYSTEM										
Fremanezum Teva Canada I	<b>ab</b> (Ajovy) .td	Migraine prevention		<ul> <li>A humanized monoclonal antibody targeting calcitonin gene-related peptide (CGRP).</li> <li>Represents a new approach to migraine therapy. This is the first identification of an anti-migraine drug that appears to be selective for Aδ-fibers (peripherally) and HT neurons (centrally).<sup>90</sup></li> <li>In a Phase III trial, it was shown to be effective and well tolerated in patients with difficult-to-treat migraine who had previously not responded to up to four classes of migraine preventive medications.<sup>91</sup></li> <li>As a monoclonal antibody, it was not associated to liver toxicity and is not expected to interact with other drugs.<sup>92</sup></li> <li>Total global revenue forecasted to be \$843 million by 2025.*</li> </ul>						
DERMATOLOGY										
Tildrakizuma Sun Pharma G	<b>b</b> (llumetri) ilobal FZE	Plaque ps	oriasis	A high-affinity, 519 subunit of Among the firs the FDA and th	humanized IL-23, a key t drugs with te EMA. <sup>95</sup>	monoclonal cytokine for specific actio	antibody sel Th17 cells. <sup>93,</sup> on against IL	ectively targe <sup>94</sup> -23 to be ap	eting the proved by	

		• Represents an evolving treatment strategy in chronic plague psoriasis. <sup>93</sup>		
		<ul> <li>Demonstrated significant clinical improvement and a favourable safety profile. In Phase III trials, it demonstrated superior efficacy vs. etanercept treatment.<sup>94</sup></li> </ul>		
		<ul> <li>Its simple dosing, prolonged duration of action, and mild adverse event profile make it a practical option for patients.<sup>94</sup></li> </ul>		
		<ul> <li>Total global revenue forecasted to be \$253 million by 2025.*</li> </ul>		
GASTROINTESTINAL	1			
<b>Tenapanor</b> (lbsrela) Knight Therapeutics Inc.	Irritable bowel syndrome (IBS)	<ul> <li>A first-in-class, small-molecule inhibitor of the gastrointestinal sodium/hydrogen exchanger 3 (NHE3).<sup>96</sup></li> </ul>		
<b>0</b>		<ul> <li>Has been shown to significantly increase stool frequency and reduce abdominal symptoms in patients with IBS-C.<sup>96</sup></li> </ul>		
		<ul> <li>In Phase III trials, it significantly reduced elevated serum phosphate in patients with hyperphosphatemia receiving maintenance hemodialysis.<sup>97</sup></li> </ul>		
		Approved by FDA in September 2019.		
		<ul> <li>Total global revenue forecasted to be \$490 million by 2025.*</li> </ul>		
GENITOURINARY AND SEX HORMONES				
<b>Ospemifene</b> (Osphena, Senshio) Duchesnay Inc.	Menopause	<ul> <li>An oral, third-generation selective estrogen receptor modulator, used to treat moderate-to-severe dyspareunia due to postmenopausal vulvovaginal atrophy (VVA).<sup>98,99</sup></li> </ul>		
		<ul> <li>Significantly improves the structure and pH levels of the vagina, reducing dyspareunia.<sup>99</sup></li> </ul>		
		<ul> <li>An indirect comparison suggests that it has an efficacy, safety, and tolerability profile comparable to or better than local vaginal estrogens in the treatment of VVA.<sup>100</sup></li> </ul>		
		<ul> <li>Patients had significantly greater adherence and persistence vs. local estrogen therapies. It had the lowest mean outpatient costs vs. local estrogen therapies. Total all-cause healthcare costs were also significantly less vs. local estrogen therapies.<sup>101</sup></li> </ul>		
		<ul> <li>Total global revenue forecasted to be \$61 million by 2025.*</li> </ul>		
INFECTIOUS DISEASE	1			
Baloxavir marboxil (Xofluza)	For influenza A or			
Hoffmann-La Roche Ltd	B virus infections	<ul> <li>An oral, selective cap-dependent endonuclease inhibitor; new mechanism of action.<sup>102</sup></li> </ul>		
		• The time to alleviation of symptoms was similar with that of oseltamivir. It was associated with greater reductions in viral load one day after initiation of the regimen vs. placebo or oseltamivir. <sup>103</sup>		

		<ul> <li>Due to the possibility of viral mutations and resistance, it is important to have antivirals with different mechanisms available, especially in the case of a new pandemic strain.<sup>102</sup></li> <li>Total global revenue forecasted \$965 million by 2025.*</li> </ul>
Cabotegravir ViiV Healthcare UK Ltd	HIV infections (AIDS)	<ul> <li>A potent integrase strand transfer inhibitor; formulated as an oral tablet for daily administration and as a long-acting injectable nanosuspension.</li> <li>Has a long half-life and can be formulated into a long-acting nanosuspension for parenteral administration (intramuscular at 4 weekly and 8 weekly intervals).<sup>48</sup></li> <li>Few interactions with commonly used concomitant medications.<sup>48</sup></li> <li>May provide an alternative therapeutic option for both the treatment and prevention of HIV-1 infection that does not necessitate adherence to a daily regimen.<sup>49</sup></li> <li>In combination with dual nucleoside reverse transcriptase inhibitor (NRTI) therapy had potent antiviral activity during the induction phase; as a two-drug maintenance therapy, cabotegravir plus rilpivirine provided antiviral activity similar to efavirenz plus dual NRTIs until the end of week 96.<sup>50</sup></li> <li>Offers an alternative to daily regimens and may improve preexposure prophylaxis (PrEP) adherence.<sup>51</sup></li> <li>Total global revenue forecasted to be \$876 million by 2025.</li> </ul>
NEUROLOGY		
Siponimod fumarate (Mayzent) Novartis Pharmaceuticals Canada Inc.	Multiple sclerosis (MS)	<ul> <li>An oral selective sphingosine 1-phosphate receptor subtypes 1 and 5 (S1PR1,5) modulator.<sup>104</sup></li> <li>A synthetic molecule belonging to the sphingosine-1-phosphate (S1P) modulator family, which has putative neuroprotective properties and well-characterized immunomodulating effects mediated by sequestration of B and T cells in secondary lymphoid organs.<sup>105</sup></li> <li>Exhibits selective affinity for types 1 and 5 S1P receptor, leading to a lower risk of adverse events that are mainly induced by S1P3 receptor activation, such as bradycardia and vasoconstriction.<sup>105</sup></li> <li>In Phase II trials, it was associated with a significant reduction in disability progression in secondary progressive (SP) MS patients vs. placebo.<sup>105</sup></li> <li>Total global revenue forecasted to be \$1.4 billion by 2025.*</li> </ul>
ONCOLOGY	1	
Darolutamide (Nubeqa) Bayer Inc.	Prostate cancer	<ul> <li>An oral, high-affinity androgen receptor (AR) antagonist, with a distinct chemical structure compared to other AR antagonists, which has activity</li> </ul>

		<ul> <li>against known AR mutants that confer resistance to other second-generation anti-androgens.<sup>106,107</sup></li> <li>The Phase III ARAMIS study shows that it delays metastasis in men with castration-resistant prostate cancer by a median of 22 months vs. placebo.<sup>108,109</sup></li> <li>Approved by FDA in 2019.</li> <li>Total global revenue forecasted to be \$995 million by 2025.*</li> </ul>
Entrectinib (Rozlytrek) Hoffmann-La Roche Ltd	Non-small cell lung cancer (NSCLC); Leukemia	<ul> <li>An orally available, CNS-active, highly potent, and selective kinase inhibitor against TRKA/B/C, ROS1, and ALK kinase activities.<sup>110</sup></li> <li>Has shown potent anti-neoplastic activity and tolerability in various neoplastic conditions, particularly NSCLC.<sup>111</sup></li> <li>Approved by FDA in 2019.</li> <li>Total global revenue forecasted to \$421 million by 2025.*</li> </ul>

\* Consensus forecasts for global revenue data were collected from GlobalData, Q4-2019, and are given in US dollars. Data source: GlobalData Healthcare database.

# REFERENCES

- <sup>1</sup> Bilen O, Ballantyne CM. 2016. *Bempedoic Acid (ETC-1002): an Investigational Inhibitor of ATP Citrate Lyase*. Curr Atheroscler Rep. 18(10):61.
- <sup>2</sup> Ballantyne CM, Laufs U, Ray KK, et al. 2019. *Bempedoic acid plus ezetimibe fixed-dose combination in patients with hypercholesterolemia and high CVD risk treated with maximally tolerated statin therapy*. Eur J Prev Cardiol. 29:2047487319864671. doi: 10.1177/2047487319864671. [Epub ahead of print].
- <sup>3</sup> Laufs U, Banach M, Mancini GBJ, et al. 2019. *Efficacy and Safety of Bempedoic Acid in Patients With Hypercholesterolemia and Statin Intolerance*. J Am Heart Assoc. 8(7):e011662. doi: 10.1161/JAHA.118.011662.
- <sup>4</sup> Penson P, McGowan M, Banach M. 2017. *Evaluating bempedoic acid for the treatment of hyperlipidaemia*. Expert Opin Investig Drugs. 26(2):251-259. doi: 10.1080/13543784.2017.1280458.
- <sup>5</sup> Ray KK, Bays HE, Catapano AL, et al; CLEAR Harmony Trial. 2019. Safety and Efficacy of Bempedoic Acid to Reduce LDL Cholesterol. N Engl J Med. 380(11):1022-1032. doi: 10.1056/NEJMoa1803917.
- <sup>6</sup> A Phase III, Multicenter, Randomized, Double-Blind, Placebo-Controlled, Parallel-Group, Efficacy, and Safety Study of Gantenerumab in Patients With Early (Prodromal to Mild) Alzheimer's Disease. ClinicalTrial.gov: NCT03443973. <u>https://www.clinicaltrials.gov/ct2/show/NCT03443973?term=Gantenerumab&rank=2</u>
- <sup>7</sup> A Phase III, Multicenter, Randomized, Double-Blind, Placebo-Controlled, Parallel-Group, Efficacy, and Safety Study of Gantenerumab in Patients With Early (Prodromal to Mild) Alzheimer's Disease. ClinicalTrial.gov: NCT03444870. <u>https://www.clinicaltrials.gov/ct2/show/NCT03444870?term=Gantenerumab&rank=3</u>
- <sup>8</sup> A Phase III, Randomized, Double-Blind, Placebo-Controlled, Parallel-Group, Multicenter, Efficacy and Safety Study of Gantenerumab in Patients With Mild Alzheimer's Disease; Part II: Open-Label Extension For Participating Patients. ClinicalTrial.gov: NCT02051608. <u>https://www.clinicaltrials.gov/ct2/show/NCT02051608?term=Gantenerumab&rank=6</u>
- <sup>9</sup> Multicenter, Randomized, Double-Blind, Placebo-Controlled, Parallel-Group Two Year Study to Evaluate the Effect of Subcutaneous RO4909832 on Cognition and Function in Prodromal Alzheimer's Disease With Option for up to an Additional Two Years of Treatment and an Open-Label Extension With Active Study Treatment. ClinicalTrial.gov: NCT01224106. https://www.clinicaltrials.gov/ct2/show/NCT01224106?term=Gantenerumab&rank=8
- <sup>10</sup> A Phase II/III Randomized, Double-Blind, Placebo-Controlled, Cognitive Endpoint, Multi-Center Study of Potential Disease Modifying Therapies in Individuals at Risk for and With Dominantly Inherited Alzheimer's Disease. ClinicalTrial.gov: NCT01760005. <u>https://www.clinicaltrials.gov/ct2/show/NCT01760005?term=Gantenerumab&rank=12</u>
- <sup>11</sup> A Phase II/III Randomized, Double-Blind, Placebo-Controlled Multi-Center Study of 2 Potential Disease Modifying Therapies in Individuals at Risk for and with Dominantly Inherited Alzheimer's Disease (ADAD). Washington University. Health Canada Clinical Trials Database: 168399. <u>https://health-products.canada.ca/ctdb-bdec/info.do</u>
- <sup>12</sup> A Phase III, Multicenter, Randomized, Double-Blind, Placebo-Controlled, Parallel-Group, Efficacy, and Safety Study of Gantenerumab in Patients with Early (Prodromal to Mild) Alzheimer's Disease. Hoffmann La Roche Limited. Health Canada Clinical Trials Database: 216415. <u>https://health-products.canada.ca/ctdb-bdec/info.do</u>
- <sup>13</sup> A Phase III, Randomized, Double-Blind, Placebo-Controlled, Parallel-Group, Multicenter, Efficacy, and Safety Study of Gantenerumab in Patients with Mild Alzheimer's Disease. Hoffmann La Roche Limited. Health Canada Clinical Trials Database: 171314. <u>https://health-products.canada.ca/ctdb-bdec/info.do</u>
- <sup>14</sup> Fabre LF, Clayton AH, Smith LC, Goldstein I, Derogatis LR. 2012. *The effect of gepirone-ER in the treatment of sexual dysfunction in depressed men.* J Sex Med. 9(3):821-829. doi: 10.1111/j.1743-6109.2011.02624.x.
- <sup>15</sup> Kaur Gill A, Bansal Y, Bhandari R, et al. 2019. *Gepirone hydrochloride: a novel antidepressant with 5-HT1A agonistic properties*. Drugs Today (Barc). 55(7):423-437. doi: 10.1358/dot.2019.55.7.2958474.

<sup>16</sup> Flavell L. VM202. ALS News Today. <u>https://alsnewstoday.com/vm202/</u>

- <sup>17</sup> Phase 3 Gene Therapy for Painful Diabetic Neuropathy. WCG CentreWatch: NCT02427464 <u>https://www.centerwatch.com/clinical-trials/listings/72339/painful-diabetic-neuropathy-phase-3-gene-therapy/</u>
- <sup>18</sup> A Phase III, Double-Blind, Randomized, Placebo-Controlled, Multicenter Study to Assess the Safety and Efficacy of VM202 in Subjects With Painful Diabetic Peripheral Neuropathy. ClinicalTrial.gov: NCT02427464. <u>https://clinicaltrials.gov/ct2/show/study/NCT02427464</u>
- <sup>19</sup> Kessler JA, Smith AG, Cha BS, et al. 2015. *Double-blind, placebo-controlled study of HGF gene therapy in diabetic neuropathy*. Ann Clin Transl Neurol. 2(5):465-478. doi: 10.1002/acn3.186.
- <sup>20</sup> A Phase III, Double-Blind, Randomized, Placebo-controlled, Multicenter Study to Asses the Safety and Efficacy of VM202 to Treat Chronic Nonhealing Foot Ulcers in Diabetic Patients With Concomitant Peripheral Arterial Disease (PAD). ClinicalTrial.gov: NCT02563522. <u>https://clinicaltrials.gov/ct2/show/NCT02563522</u>
- <sup>21</sup> Lonze BE, Tatapudi VS, Weldon EP, et al. 2018. IdeS (Imlifidase): A Novel Agent That Cleaves Human IgG and Permits Successful Kidney Transplantation Across High-strength Donor-specific Antibody. Ann Surg. 268(3):488-496. doi: 10.1097/SLA.000000000002924.
- <sup>22</sup> National Institute for Health Research. 2019. Adstiladrin for high-grade, BCG unresponsive non-muscle-invasive bladder cancer. <u>http://www.io.nihr.ac.uk/wp-content/uploads/2019/02/8376-Adstiladrin-for-NMIBC-V1.0-FEB2019-NONCONF.pdf</u>
- <sup>23</sup> A Phase III, Open Label Study to Evaluate the Safety and Efficacy of INSTILADRIN<sup>®</sup> (rAd-IFN)/Syn3) Administered Intravesically to Patients With High Grade, BCG Unresponsive Non-Muscle Invasive Bladder Cancer (NMIBC). ClinicalTrials.gov: NCT02773849. <u>https://clinicaltrials.gov/ct2/show/NCT02773849</u>
- <sup>24</sup> Alonso-Álvarez S, Pardal E, Sánchez-Nieto D, et al. 2017. *Plitidepsin: design, development, and potential place in therapy.* Drug Des Devel Ther. 11:253-264. doi: 10.2147/DDDT.S94165.
- <sup>25</sup> Delgado-Calle J, Kurihara N, Atkinson EG, et al. 2019. Aplidin (plitidepsin) is a novel anti-myeloma agent with potent antiresorptive activity mediated by direct effects on osteoclasts. Oncotarget. 10(28):2709-2721. doi: 10.18632/oncotarget.26831.
- <sup>26</sup> Leisch M, Egle A, Greil R. 2019. *Plitidepsin: a potential new treatment for relapsed/refractory multiple myeloma*. Future Oncol. 15(2):109-120. doi: 10.2217/fon-2018-0492.
- <sup>27</sup> Spicka I, Ocio EM, Oakervee HE, et al. 2019. Randomized phase III study (ADMYRE) of plitidepsin in combination with dexamethasone vs. dexamethasone alone in patients with relapsed/refractory multiple myeloma. Ann Hematol. 98(9):2139-2150. doi: 10.1007/s00277-019-03739-2.
- <sup>28</sup> Kunimoto D, Ohji M, Maturi RK, et al; BAMBOO and CYPRESS Study Groups. 2019. Evaluation of Abicipar Pegol (an Anti-VEGF DARPin Therapeutic) in Patients With Neovascular Age-Related Macular Degeneration: Studies in Japan and the United States. Ophthalmic Surg Lasers Imaging Retina. 50(2):e10-e22. doi: 10.3928/23258160-20190129-13.
- <sup>29</sup> Hussain RM, Ciulla TA. 2017. Emerging vascular endothelial growth factor antagonists to treat neovascular age-related macular degeneration. Expert Opin Emerg Drugs. 22(3):235-246. doi:10.1080/14728214.2017.1362390.
- <sup>30</sup> Al-Khersan H, Hussain RM, Ciulla TA, Dugel PU. 2019. *Innovative therapies for neovascular age-related macular degeneration*. Expert Opin Pharmacother. 12:1-13. doi: 10.1080/14656566.2019.1636031. [Epub ahead of print].
- <sup>31</sup> Rodrigues GA, Mason M, Christie LA, et al. 2018. *Functional Characterization of Abicipar-Pegol, an Anti-VEGF DARPin Therapeutic That Potently Inhibits Angiogenesis and Vascular Permeability*. Invest Ophthalmol Vis Sci. 59(15):5836-5846. doi:10.1167/iovs.18-25307.

- <sup>32</sup> D'Antoni ML, Paul RH, Mitchell BI, et al. 2018. *Improved Cognitive Performance and Reduced Monocyte Activation in Virally Suppressed Chronic HIV After Dual CCR2 and CCR5 Antagonism*. J Acquir Immune Defic Syndr. 79(1):108-116. doi:10.1097/QAI.00000000001752.
- <sup>33</sup> Friedman SL, Ratziu V, Harrison SA, et al. 2018. A randomized, placebo-controlled trial of cenicriviroc for treatment of nonalcoholic steatohepatitis with fibrosis. Hepatology. 67(5):1754-1767. doi: 10.1002/hep.29477.
- <sup>34</sup> Tacke F. 2018. *Cenicriviroc for the treatment of non-alcoholic steatohepatitis and liver fibrosis.* Expert Opin Investig Drugs. 27(3):301-311. doi:10.1080/13543784.2018.1442436.
- <sup>35</sup> AURORA: A Phase 3 Study to Evaluate the Efficacy and Safety of Cenicriviroc for the Treatment of Liver Fibrosis in Adult Subjects With Nonalcoholic Steatohepatitis. ClinicalTrials.gov: NCT03028740. <u>https://www.clinicaltrials.gov/ct2/show/NCT03028740?term=Cenicriviroc&draw=2&rank=12</u>
- <sup>36</sup> Collet TH, Dubern B, Mokrosinski J, et al. 2017. *Evaluation of a melanocortin-4 receptor (MC4R) agonist (Setmelanotide) in MC4R deficiency*. Mol Metab. 6(10):1321-1329. doi: 10.1016/j.molmet.2017.06.015.
- <sup>37</sup> A Phase 3 Trial of Setmelanotide (RM-493), a Melanocortin-4 Receptor (MC4R) Agonist, in Bardet-Biedl Syndrome (BBS) and Alström Syndrome (AS) Patients With Moderate to Severe Obesity. ClinicalTrials.gov: NCT03746522. https://www.clinicaltrials.gov/ct2/show/NCT03746522?term=Setmelanotide&draw=2&rank=3
- <sup>38</sup> An Open Label, 1-Year Trial, Including a Double-Blind Placebo-Controlled Withdrawal Period, of Setmelanotide (RM-493), a Melanocortin 4 Receptor (MC4R) Agonist, in Early Onset Leptin Receptor (LEPR) Deficiency Obesity Due to Bi-Allelic Loss-of-Function LEPR Genetic Mutation. ClinicalTrials.gov: NCT03287960. https://www.clinicaltrials.gov/ct2/show/NCT03287960?term=Setmelanotide&draw=2&rank=4
- <sup>39</sup> Eichler F, Duncan C, Musolino PL, et al. 2017. Hematopoietic Stem-Cell Gene Therapy for Cerebral Adrenoleukodystrophy. N Engl J Med. 377(17):1630-8.
- <sup>40</sup> Pasi KJ, Rangarajan S, Georgiev P, et al. 2017. *Targeting of Antithrombin in Hemophilia A or B with RNAi Therapy*. N Engl J Med. 377(9):819-828. doi: 10.1056/NEJMoa1616569.
- <sup>41</sup> ATLAS-PPX: An Open-label, Multinational, Switching Study to Describe the Efficacy and Safety of Fitusiran Prophylaxis in Patients With Hemophilia A and B Previously Receiving Factor or Bypassing Agent Prophylaxis. ClinicalTrials.gov: NCT03549871. <u>https://www.clinicaltrials.gov/ct2/show/NCT03549871?term=fitusiran&draw=2&rank=1</u>
- <sup>42</sup> An Open-label, Long-term Safety and Efficacy Study of Fitusiran in Patients With Hemophilia A or B, With or Without Inhibitory Antibodies to Factor VIII or IX. ClinicalTrials.gov: NCT03754790. <u>https://www.clinicaltrials.gov/ct2/show/NCT03754790?term=fitusiran&draw=2&rank=3</u>
- <sup>43</sup> ATLAS-INH: A Phase 3 Study to Evaluate the Efficacy and Safety of Fitusiran in Patients With Hemophilia A or B, With Inhibitory Antibodies to Factor VIII or IX. ClinicalTrials.gov: NCT03417102. <u>https://www.clinicaltrials.gov/ct2/show/NCT03417102?term=fitusiran&draw=2&rank=5</u>
- <sup>44</sup> ATLAS-A/B: A Phase 3 Study to Evaluate the Efficacy and Safety of Fitusiran in Patients With Hemophilia A or B, Without Inhibitory Antibodies to Factor VIII or IX. ClinicalTrials.gov: NCT03417245. <u>https://www.clinicaltrials.gov/ct2/show/NCT03417245?term=fitusiran&draw=2&rank=6</u>
- <sup>45</sup> Martin ER, Smith MT, Maroni BJ, Zuraw QC, deGoma EM. 2017. *Clinical Trial of Vadadustat in Patients With Anemia Secondary to Stage 3 or 4 Chronic Kidney Disease*. Am J Nephrol. 45(5):380-388. doi: 10.1159/000464476.
- <sup>46</sup> Haase VH, Chertow GM, Block GA, et al. 2018. *Effects of vadadustat on hemoglobin concentrations in patients receiving hemodialysis previously treated with erythropoiesis-stimulating agents*. Nephrol Dial Transplant. doi: 10.1093/ndt/gfy055. [Epub ahead of print].
- <sup>47</sup> Phase 3, Randomized, Open-Label, Active-Controlled Study Evaluating the Efficacy and Safety of Oral Vadadustat for the Correction or Maintenance Treatment of Anemia in Subjects With Incident Dialysis-Dependent Chronic Kidney Disease

(DD-CKD) (INNO2VATE - CORRECTION/CONVERSION). ClinicalTrials.gov: NCT02865850. https://www.clinicaltrials.gov/ct2/show/NCT02865850?term=vadadustat&recrs=d&phase=2&draw=2&rank=1

- <sup>48</sup> Whitfield T, Torkington A, van Halsema C. 2016. Profile of cabotegravir and its potential in the treatment and prevention of HIV-1 infection: evidence to date. HIV AIDS (Auckl). 8:157-164.
- <sup>49</sup> Trezza C, Ford SL, Spreen W, Pan R, Piscitelli S. 2015. Formulation and pharmacology of long-acting cabotegravir. Curr Opin HIV AIDS. 10(4):239-45. doi:10.1097/COH.000000000000168.
- <sup>50</sup> Margolis DA, Brinson CC, Smith GHR, et al. 2015. *Cabotegravir plus rilpivirine, once a day, after induction with* cabotegravir plus nucleoside reverse transcriptase inhibitors in antiretroviral-naive adults with HIV-1 infection (LATTE): a randomised, phase 2b, dose-ranging trial. Lancet Infect Dis. 15(10):1145-1155. doi: 10.1016/S1473-3099(15)00152-8.
- <sup>51</sup> Andrews CD, Heneine W. 2015. *Cabotegravir long-acting for HIV-1 prevention*. Curr Opin HIV AIDS. 10(4):258-263. doi:10.1097/COH.000000000000161.
- <sup>52</sup> Cahn P, Fink V, Patterson P. 2018. Fostemsavir: a new CD4 attachment inhibitor. Curr Opin HIV AIDS. 13(4):341-345. doi: 10.1097/COH.00000000000469.
- <sup>53</sup> Hind M. Stinchcombe S. 2009. Palovarotene, a novel retinoic acid receptor gamma agonist for the treatment of emphysema. Curr Opin Investig Drugs. 10(11):1243-50.
- <sup>54</sup> MOVE TRIAL: A Phase 3, Efficacy and Safety Study of Oral Palovarotene for the Treatment of Fibrodysplasia Ossificans Progressiva (FOP). ClinicalTrials.gov: NCT03312634. https://www.clinicaltrials.gov/ct2/show/NCT03312634?term=Palovarotene&draw=2&rank=3
- <sup>55</sup> de Bono JS, De Giorgi U, Nava Rodrigues D, et al. 2018. *Randomized Phase II Study of Akt Blockade With or Without* Ipatasertib in Abiraterone-Treated Patients With Metastatic Prostate Cancer With and Without PTEN Loss. Clin Cancer Res. doi:10.1158/1078-0432.CCR-18-0981. [Epub ahead of print].
- <sup>56</sup> Costa RLB, Han HS, Gradishar WJ. 2018. Targeting the PI3K/AKT/mTOR pathway in triple-negative breast cancer: a review. Breast Cancer Res Treat. 169(3):397-406. doi: 10.1007/s10549-018-4697-y.
- <sup>57</sup> Kim SB, Dent R, Im SA, et al. 2017. *Ipatasertib plus paclitaxel versus placebo plus paclitaxel as first-line therapy for* metastatic triple-negative breast cancer (LOTUS): a multicentre, randomised, double-blind, placebo-controlled, phase 2 trial. Lancet Oncol. 18(10):1360-1372. doi: 10.1016/S1470-2045(17)30450-3.
- <sup>58</sup> A Phase Ib/III Study of Ipatasertib Plus Palbociclib and Fulvestrant Versus Placebo Plus Palbociclib and Fulvestrant in Hormone Receptor Positive and HER2 Negative Locally Advanced Unresectable or Metastatic Breast Cancer. ClinicalTrials.gov: NCT04060862.

https://www.clinicaltrials.gov/ct2/show/NCT04060862?term=Ipatasertib&draw=2&rank=15

<sup>59</sup> A Phase III, Double-blind, Placebo-controlled, Randomized Study Of Ipatasertib in Combination With Atezolizumab and Paclitaxel as a Treatment for Participants With Locally Advanced Unresectable or Metastatic Triple-Negative Breast Cancer. ClinicalTrials.gov: NCT04177108. https://www.clinicaltrials.gov/ct2/show/NCT04177108?term=lpatasertib&draw=2&rank=17

<sup>60</sup> A Phase III, Randomized, Double-Blind, Placebo-Controlled, Multicenter Trial Testing Ipatasertib Plus Abiraterone Plus Prednisone/Prednisolone, Relative to Placebo Plus Abiraterone Plus Prednisone/Prednisolone in Adult Male Patients With Asymptomatic or Mildly Symptomatic, Previously Untreated, Metastatic Castrate-Resistant Prostate Cancer. ClinicalTrials.gov: NCT03072238.

https://www.clinicaltrials.gov/ct2/show/NCT03072238?term=Ipatasertib&draw=2&rank=9

- <sup>61</sup> Chauhan D, Ray A, Viktorsson K, et al. 2013. In vitro and in vivo antitumor activity of a novel alkylating agent, melphalanflufenamide, against multiple myeloma cells. Clin Cancer Res. 19(11):3019-31. doi: 10.1158/1078-0432.CCR-12-3752.
- <sup>62</sup> A Randomized, Controlled, Open-label, Phase 3 Study of Melflufen/Dexamethasone Compared With Pomalidomide/Dexamethasone for Patients With Relapsed Refractory Multiple Myeloma Who Are Refractory to

Lenalidomide. ClinicalTrials.gov: NCT03151811. https://www.clinicaltrials.gov/ct2/show/NCT03151811?term=melflufen&draw=2&rank=4

- <sup>63</sup> A Phase 3, Double-Blind, Placebo-controlled Study of Quizartinib Administered in Combination With Induction and Consolidation Chemotherapy, and Administered as Continuation Therapy in Subjects 18 to 75 Years Old With Newly Diagnosed FLT3-ITD (+) Acute Myeloid Leukemia (QuANTUM First). ClinicalTrials.gov: NCT02668653. https://www.clinicaltrials.gov/ct2/show/NCT02668653?term=Quizartinib&draw=2&rank=12
- <sup>64</sup> A Multicenter Phase 2, Open Label Study of Intratumoral Tavo Plus Electroporation in Combination With Intravenous Pembrolizumab in Patients With Stage III/IV Melanoma Who Are Progressing on Either Pembrolizumab or Nivolumab Treatment. ClinicalTrials.gov: NCT03132675. https://clinicaltrials.gov/ct2/show/NCT03132675
- <sup>65</sup> Burkart C, Mukhopadhyay A, Shirley SA, et al. 2018. Improving therapeutic efficacy of IL-12 intratumoral gene electrotransfer through novel plasmid design and modified parameters. Gene Ther. 25(2):93-103.
- <sup>66</sup> Babiker HM, Glode AE, Cooke LS, Mahadevan D. 2018. Ublituximab for the treatment of CD20 positive B-cell malignancies. Expert Opin Investig Drugs. 27(4):407-412. doi:10.1080/13543784.2018.1459560.
- <sup>67</sup> Sharman JP, Farber CM, Mahadevan D, et al. 2017. Ublituximab (TG-1101), a novel glycoengineered anti-CD20 antibody, in combination with ibrutinib is safe and highly active in patients with relapsed and/or refractory chronic lymphocytic *leukaemia: results of a phase 2 trial.* Br J Haematol. 176(3):412-420. doi: 10.1111/bjh.14447.
- <sup>68</sup> UbLiTuximab in Multiple Sclerosis Treatment Effects (ULTIMATE I STUDY). ClinicalTrials.gov: NCT03277261. https://www.clinicaltrials.gov/ct2/show/NCT03277261?term=Ublituximab&draw=2&rank=5
- <sup>69</sup> Randomized, Double-Masked, Sham-Controlled Clinical Trial [phase 3] to Evaluate the Efficacy of a Single Intravitreal Injection of GS010 in Subjects Affected for 6 Months or Less by LHON Due to the G11778A Mutation in the Mitochondrial ND4 Gene. ClinicalTrials.gov: NCT02652767. www.clinicaltrials.gov/ct2/show/NCT02652767?term=NCT02652767&rank=1
- <sup>70</sup> Randomized, Double-Masked, Sham-Controlled Clinical Trial to Evaluate the Efficacy of a Single Intravitreal Injection of GS010 in Subjects Affected for More Than 6 Months and To 12 Months by LHON Due to the G11778A Mutation in the ND4 Gene. ClinicalTrials.gov: NCT02652780.

https://www.clinicaltrials.gov/ct2/show/NCT02652780?term=lenadogene+nolparvovec&rank=1

- <sup>71</sup> Mitsios A, Dubis AM, Moosajee M. 2018. Choroideremia: from genetic and clinical phenotyping to gene therapy and future treatments. Ther Adv Ophthalmol. 10:1-18.
- <sup>72</sup> Ong T, Pennesi ME, Birch DG, Lam BL, Tsang SH. 2019. Adeno-Associated Viral Gene Therapy for Inherited Retinal Disease. Pharm Res. 36(2):34.
- <sup>73</sup> Fischer MD, Ochakovski GA, Beier B, et al. 2019. Efficacy and Safety of Retinal Gene Therapy Using Adeno-Associated Virus Vector for Patients With Choroideremia: A Randomized Clinical Trial. JAMA Ophthalmol. doi: 10.1001/jamaophthalmol.2019.3278. [Epub ahead of print].
- <sup>74</sup> A Randomised, Open Label, Outcomes-Assessor Masked, Prospective, Parallel Controlled Group, Phase 3 Clinical Trial Of Retinal Gene Therapy For Choroideremia Using An Adeno-Associated Viral Vector (AAV2) Encoding Rab Escort Protein 1 (REP1). ClinicalTrials.gov: NCT03496012. https://www.clinicaltrials.gov/ct2/show/NCT03496012?term=NSR-REP1&rank=3
- <sup>75</sup> A Single-Masked, Randomized, Controlled, Parallel Group, Phase 3 Clinical Trial Of Retinal Gene Therapy for Choroideremia Using an Adeno-Associated Viral Vector (AAV2) Encoding Rab Escort Protein 1 (REP1). Health Canada Clinical Trials Database: 193958. https://health-products.canada.ca/ctdb-bdec/info.do
- <sup>76</sup> Osborne R. *Merged companies QLT, Aegerion eyeball Zuretinol, ultra-orphan phase III bid*. BioWorld. http://www.bioworld.com/content/merged-companies-glt-aegerion-eyeball-zuretinol-ultra-orphan-phase-iii-bid

- <sup>77</sup> Mendell JR, Al-Zaidy S, Shell R, et al. 2017. Single-Dose Gene-Replacement Therapy for Spinal Muscular Atrophy. N Engl J Med. 377:1713-22. doi: 10.1056/NEJMoa1706198.
- <sup>78</sup> A Global Study of a Single, One-Time Dose of AVXS-101 Delivered to Infants With Genetically Diagnosed and Presymptomatic Spinal Muscular Atrophy With Multiple Copies of SMN2. ClinicalTrials.gov: NCT03505099. www.clinicaltrials.gov/ct2/show/NCT03505099?term=AVXS-101&draw=1&rank=1
- <sup>79</sup> European, Phase 3, Open-Label, Single-Arm, Single-Dose Gene Replacement Therapy Clinical Trial for Patients With Spinal Muscular Atrophy Type 1 With One or Two SMN2 Copies Delivering AVXS-101 by Intravenous Infusion. ClinicalTrials.gov: NCT03461289. www.clinicaltrials.gov/ct2/show/NCT03461289?term=AVXS-101&draw=1&rank=4
- <sup>80</sup> Phase 3, Open-Label, Single-Arm, Single-Dose Gene Replacement Therapy Clinical Trial for Patients With Spinal Muscular Atrophy Type 1 With One or Two SMN2 Copies Delivering AVXS-101 by Intravenous Infusion. ClinicalTrials.gov: NCT03306277. www.clinicaltrials.gov/ct2/show/NCT03306277?term=AVXS-101&draw=1&rank=5
- <sup>81</sup> A Long Term Follow up Safety Study of Patients in the AVXS-101-CL-101 Gene Replacement Therapy Clinical Trial for Spinal Muscular Atrophy Type 1 Delivering AVXS 101. ClinicalTrials.gov: NCT03421977. <u>https://www.clinicaltrials.gov/ct2/show/NCT03421977?term=Onasemnogene+abeparvovec&draw=2&rank=7</u>
- <sup>82</sup> Lipton RB, Dodick DW, Ailani J, et al. 2019. *Effect of Ubrogepant vs Placebo on Pain and the Most Bothersome Associated Symptom in the Acute Treatment of Migraine: The ACHIEVE II Randomized Clinical Trial.* JAMA. 322(19):1887-98.
- <sup>83</sup> Veve MP, Wagner JL. 2018. *Lefamulin: Review of a Promising Novel Pleuromutilin Antibiotic.* Pharmacotherapy. 38(9):935-946.
- <sup>84</sup> Lee YR, Jacobs KL. 2019. *Leave it to Lefamulin: A Pleuromutilin Treatment Option in Community-Acquired Bacterial Pneumonia*. Drugs. 79(17):1867-76.
- <sup>85</sup> File TM, Goldberg L, Das A, et al. 2019. *Efficacy and Safety of Intravenous-to-oral Lefamulin, a Pleuromutilin Antibiotic, for the Treatment of Community-acquired Bacterial Pneumonia: The Phase III Lefamulin Evaluation Against Pneumonia (LEAP 1) Trial.* Clin Infect Dis. 69(11):1856-67.
- <sup>86</sup> Chari A, Vogl DT, Gavriatopoulou M, et al. 2019. Oral Selinexor-Dexamethasone for Triple-Class Refractory Multiple Myeloma. N Engl J Med. 381(8):727-738.
- <sup>87</sup> Cavazzana-Calvo M, Payen E, Negre O, et al. 2010. *Transfusion independence and HMGA2 activation after gene therapy of human β-thalassaemia*. Nature. 467(7313):318-322. doi: 10.1038/nature09328.
- <sup>88</sup> A Phase 3 Single Arm Study Evaluating the Efficacy and Safety of Gene Therapy in Subjects With Transfusion-dependent β-Thalassemia, Who Have a β0/β0 Genotype by Transplantation of Autologous CD34+ Stem Cells Transduced Ex Vivo With a Lentiviral βA-T87Q-Globin Vector in Subjects ≤50 Years of Age. ClinicalTrials.gov: NCT03207009. www.clinicaltrials.gov/ct2/show/NCT03207009?term=lentiglobin&rank=4
- <sup>89</sup> A Phase 3 Single Arm Study Evaluating the Efficacy and Safety of Gene Therapy in Subjects With Transfusion-dependent β-Thalassemia, Who Do Not Have a β0/β0 Genotype by Transplantation of Autologous CD34+ Stem Cells Transduced Ex Vivo With a Lentiviral βA-T87Q-Globin Vector in Subjects ≤50 Years of Age. ClinicalTrials.gov: NCT02906202. https://www.clinicaltrials.gov/ct2/show/NCT02906202?term=LentiGlobin&rank=4
- <sup>90</sup> Melo-Carrillo A, Strassman AM, Nir RR, et al. 2017. Fremanezumab-A Humanized Monoclonal Anti-CGRP Antibody-Inhibits Thinly Myelinated (Aδ) But Not Unmyelinated (C) Meningeal Nociceptors. J Neurosci. 37(44):10587-10596. doi: 10.1523/JNEUROSCI.2211-17.2017.
- <sup>91</sup> Ferrari MD, Diener HC, Ning X, et al. 2019. *Fremanezumab versus placebo for migraine prevention in patients with documented failure to up to four migraine preventive medication classes (FOCUS): a randomised, double-blind, placebo-controlled, phase 3b trial.* Lancet. doi:10.1016/S0140-6736(19)31946-4. [Epub ahead of print].
- <sup>92</sup> Lionetto L, Curto M, Cisale GY, et al. 2019. *Fremanezumab for the preventive treatment of migraine in adults*. Expert Rev Clin Pharmacol. 12(8):741-748. doi:10.1080/17512433.2019.1635452.

- <sup>93</sup> Reich K, Papp KA, Blauvelt A, et al. 2017. *Tildrakizumab versus placebo or etanercept for chronic plaque psoriasis* (*reSURFACE 1 and reSURFACE 2*): *results from two randomised controlled, phase 3 trials*. Lancet. 390(10091):276-288. doi: 10.1016/S0140-6736(17)31279-5.
- <sup>94</sup> Bangert C, Kopp T. 2018. *Tildrakizumab for the treatment of psoriasis*. Immunotherapy. 10(13):1105-1122. doi: 10.2217/imt-2018-0028.
- <sup>95</sup> Pithadia DJ, Reynolds KA, Lee EB, et al. 2019. *Tildrakizumab in the treatment of psoriasis: latest evidence and place in therapy*. Ther Adv Chronic Dis. 10:2040622319865658. doi:10.1177/2040622319865658.
- <sup>96</sup> Chey WD, Lembo AJ, Rosenbaum DP. 2017. Tenapanor Treatment of Patients With Constipation-Predominant Irritable Bowel Syndrome: A Phase 2, Randomized, Placebo-Controlled Efficacy and Safety Trial. Am J Gastroenterol. 112(5):763-774. doi: 10.1038/ajg.2017.41.
- <sup>97</sup> Block GA, Rosenbaum DP, Yan A, Chertow GM. 2019. Efficacy and Safety of Tenapanor in Patients ith Hyperphosphatemia Receiving Maintenance Hemodialysis: A Randomized Phase 3 Trial. J Am Soc Nephrol. 30(4):641-652. doi: 10.1681/ASN.2018080832.
- <sup>98</sup> Simon JA, Altomare C, Cort S, et al. 2018. Overall Safety of Ospemifene in Postmenopausal Women from Placebo-Controlled Phase 2 and 3 Trials. J Womens Health (Larchmt). 27(1):14-23. doi: 10.1089/jwh.2017.6385.
- <sup>99</sup> Shin JJ, Kim SK, Lee JR, Suh CS. 2017. Ospemifene: A Novel Option for the Treatment of Vulvovaginal Atrophy. J Menopausal Med. 23(2):79-84. doi: 10.6118/jmm.2017.23.2.79.
- <sup>100</sup> Bruyniks N, Biglia N, Palacios S, Mueck AO. 2017. *Systematic indirect comparison of ospemifene versus local estrogens for vulvar and vaginal atrophy*. Climacteric. 20(3):195-204. doi: 10.1080/13697137.2017.1284780.
- <sup>101</sup> Faught BM, Soulban G, Yeaw J, et al. 2019. *Ospemifene versus local estrogen: adherence and costs in postmenopausal dyspareunia*. J Comp Eff Res. doi: 10.2217/cer-2019-0091. [Epub ahead of print].
- <sup>102</sup> Szollosi DE, Bill A. 2019. Potential Role of Endonuclease Inhibition and Other Targets in the Treatment of Influenza. Curr Drug Targets. doi: 10.2174/1389450120666190801115130. [Epub ahead of print].
- <sup>103</sup> Hayden FG, Sugaya N, Hirotsu N, et al; Baloxavir Marboxil Investigators Group. 2018. Baloxavir Marboxil for Uncomplicated Influenza in Adults and Adolescents. N Engl J Med. 379(10):913-923. doi: 10.1056/NEJMoa1716197.
- <sup>104</sup> Al-Salama ZT. 2019. Siponimod: First Global Approval. Drugs. 79(9):1009-1015. doi: 10.1007/s40265-019-01140-x.
- <sup>105</sup> Gajofatto A. 2017. Spotlight on siponimod and its potential in the treatment of secondary progressive multiple sclerosis: the evidence to date. Drug Des Devel Ther. 11:3153-3157. doi: 10.2147/DDDT.S122249.
- <sup>106</sup> Shore ND. 2017. *Darolutamide (ODM-201) for the treatment of prostate cancer*. Expert Opin Pharmacother. 18(9):945-952. doi: 10.1080/14656566.2017.1329820.
- <sup>107</sup> Sugawara T, Baumgart SJ, Nevedomskaya E, et al. 2019. *Darolutamide is a potent androgen receptor antagonist with strong efficacy in prostate cancer models*. Int J Cancer. 145(5):1382-1394. doi: 10.1002/ijc.32242.
- <sup>108</sup> [No authors listed]. 2019. *Darolutamide Slows Metastasis in Prostate Cancer*. Cancer Discov. 9(4):OF6. doi: 10.1158/2159-8290.CD-NB2019-029.
- <sup>109</sup> Fizazi K, Shore N, Tammela TL, et al; ARAMIS Investigators. 2019. *Darolutamide in Nonmetastatic, Castration-Resistant Prostate Cancer*. N Engl J Med. 380(13):1235-1246. doi: 10.1056/NEJMoa1815671.
- <sup>110</sup> Smith KM, Fagan PC, Pomari E, et al. 2018. Antitumor Activity of Entrectinib, a Pan-TRK, ROS1, and ALK Inhibitor, in *ETV6-NTRK3-Positive Acute Myeloid Leukemia*. Mol Cancer Ther. 17(2):455-463. doi: 10.1158/1535-7163.MCT-17-0419.
- <sup>111</sup> Rolfo C, Ruiz R, Giovannetti E, et al. 2015. *Entrectinib: a potent new TRK, ROS1, and ALK inhibitor*. Expert Opin Investig Drugs. 24(11):1493-1500. doi:10.1517/13543784.2015.1096344.